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PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION



Michael Moorefield 					:
							:
	v.						:		C-2023-3041919
							:
Duquesne Light Company		   		:



INTERIM ORDER
GRANTING PRELIMINARY OBJECTION

		On July 21, 2023, Michael Moorefield (Mr. Moorefield or Complainant) filed a Formal Complaint with the Public Utility Commission (the Commission) against Duquesne Light Company (DLC, Company, or Respondent).  In his Complaint, Complainant avers DLC was threatening to shut off his service or has already done so.  Attached to his Complaint is a document entitled, “Notice to Principle is Notice to Agent” dated July 17, 2023, and addressed to the Commission’s Secretary, Rosemary Chiavetta; a Power of Attorney and Declaration of Representative Form (IRS Form 2848); a Notice Concerning Fiduciary Relationship Form (IRS Form 56); an Acquisition or Abandonment of Secured Property Form (IRS Form 1099-A); a document entitled, “Notice and Warning to Utility Companies;” a letter dated June 12, 2023, from DLC to Complainant, regarding an invalid payment; copies of certified mail receipts; and a letter dated June 22, 2023, from Complainant addressed to DLC.  

		In his document entitled, “Notice to Principle is Notice to Agent,” Complainant writes, “I, Moorefield: Michael-Allen, Agent, to principle MICHAEL ALLEN MOOREFIELD, [am] contacting you regarding the on-going discrepancies and dishonor I’m experiencing as a consumer with [DLC].  I’ve notified them the following.  Through my studies, I’m aware that through contracting everything is done in trust.  The consumer myself, is operating in an implied trust.  Though this letter I will be expressing the trust.  Stating my position in this trust relationship and my intent.” 

		Complainant explains his position that he is acting as power of attorney over a trust created for the benefit of himself, Michael Moorefield.  He argues, inter alia, “Cestui que vie act 1666 states we can claim all unearned interest.”  He writes, 

This account [presumably, his electric account] can only be paid with the interest.  Not federal reserve notes.  Truth in Lending 1601 says I’m the consumer.  It also sys the trust is a corporation/person, organization.  The Bill of Exchange Act states the only way to pay the bill is to accept the credits and transfer.  Anything else is in noncompliance….  

Trust assets are being held by [DLC] for the beneficiary of the trust (myself)….  I’ve ‘respectfully’ authorized Matt Ankrum C.F.O., of [DLC] to release the interest, which id credit to match principle to balance the account.  15 USC 1615 states or the return of all unearned interest…. As shown in the attachments, I’ve endorsed multiple remittance coupons.  These coupons are ‘dividend’ checks on behalf of the estate principle name MICHAEL MOOREFIELD.  Once endorsed, [DLC] is supposed to apply credits to the account.  I’ve sent multiple coupons certified mail.  [DLC] is continuously accepting the coupons.

However not crediting the account which is fraud.  I’ve also certified mailed a remittance coupon for $1,020.00 which was addressed to [DLC].  Which was stamped by BNY corporate and still account isn’t credited for amount.  I’ve expressed my position through multiple letters, from which are continuously being ignored.  I’ve even provided a letter titled ‘NOTICE AND WARNING TO ALL UTILITY COMPANIES.  Which explains in depth the fraud and extortion that all companies due [sic].  [DLC] didn’t rebut the letter whatsoever.  Yet just expressed how they refuse to honor the remittance coupon.  And continuously attempts to extort me, by specifying one species of payment from which they will only accept which is U.S. currency.  Yest alleges I owe them still and threatening to terminate service and place account in collections…. MICHAEL MOOREFIELD is a government created entity, which is named after me for my benefit.  18 USC 8 obligations of the United States, HRJ192, public law 73-10.  I’ve provided the necessary documents to take over account to have interest applied to account monthly.  [DLC] is also in violation of 15 USC 1681(a)(1)(2) because of the dishonor this will also affect my credit.  I’d appreciate it if they’d respect the paperwork I’ve shown along with my position in this “trust” contract by applying interest back to principle monthly.
		In the document entitled, “Notice and Warning to Utility Companies,” Complainant argues that since House Joint Resolution 192 (HJR) (Public Law 7310) was passed in 1933 we have only had debt, because all property and gold was seized by the government as collateral in the bankruptcy of the United States.  He argues “historical records and other Acts of Congress proves the US bankruptcy of 1933 and that there is no money, only credit that the American people are the Creditors.”  He argues, “since there is no money, American’s signatures are used as the credit to run this country.”  In support of his argument, Complainant cites various federal laws including, the Trading with the Enemy Act and the National Bank Act.

On August 16, 2023, Respondent filed an Answer to the Complaint, denying all material allegations in the Complaint.  DLC explains Complainant established service in his name at 305 San Juan Dr., Apt. 8, Port Vue, PA 15131 (service location) on March 22, 2023, and no payments have posted to account since.  DLC argues Complainant is responsible for payment of his utility bill and may not pay with “remittance coupons.”  

	On August 16, 2023, DLC also filed a Preliminary Objection to the Complaint.  DLC argues the portions of the Complaint alleging violations of federal law should be dismissed.  DLC argues the Commission lacks jurisdiction to adjudicate those claims, thus rendering those portions of the Complaint legally insufficient.     

	On August 24, 2023, Complainant filed a response to DLC’s pleadings, essentially reiterating the arguments raised in his Complaint. 	

	On August 28, 2023, the Commission issued a Hearing Notice, assigning this matter to me and scheduling an evidentiary hearing for October 11, 2023.

	 It is now appropriate for me to rule on the Preliminary Objection. 



DISCUSSION

		Preliminary objection practice before the Commission is similar to Pennsylvania civil practice respecting preliminary objections.[footnoteRef:1]  Pursuant to Section 5.101(a)(1) a party may object to a pleading due to lack of Commission jurisdiction.[footnoteRef:2]  The moving party may not rely on its own factual assertions but must accept for the purposes of disposition of the preliminary objection, all well-pleaded, material facts of the other party, as well as every inference fairly deducible from those facts.[footnoteRef:3]  However, the Commission need not accept as true conclusions of law, unwarranted inferences from facts, argumentative allegations, or expressions of opinion.[footnoteRef:4] [1:  	Equitable Small Transportation Intervenors v. Equitable Gas Company, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 69, Docket No. C-00935435 (July 18, 1994).  
]  [2:  	52 Pa. Code § 5.101(a)(1). 
]  [3:  	County of Allegheny v. Cmwlth. of Pa., 490 A.2d 402 (Pa. 1985).
]  [4:  	Stanton-Negley Drug Co. v. Dep’t of Pub. Welfare, 927 A.2d 671, 673 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2007).
] 


		As described above, Mr. Moorefield indicated on the Complaint that DLC was threatening to terminate his service or had already done so.  He argues he has made payment on his account via “remittance coupons” and DLC has failed to properly credit his account.  In support of his claims, Complainant cites various pieces of federal legislation.

		The Commission, as a creation of the General Assembly, only has the powers and authority granted to it by the General Assembly and contained in the Public Utility Code.[footnoteRef:5]  The Commission must act within and cannot exceed, its jurisdiction.[footnoteRef:6]  Jurisdiction may not be conferred by the parties where not exists.[footnoteRef:7]   [5:  	Tod and Lisa Shedlosky v. Pennsylvania Electric Co., Docket No. C-20066937, Opinion and Order (May 28, 2008); Feingold v. Bell Tel. Co. of Pa., 383 A.2d 791 (Pa. 1977).
]  [6:  	City of Pittsburgh v. PUC, 43 A.2d 348 (Pa.Super. 1945).
]  [7:  	Roberts v. Martorano, 235 A.2d 602 (Pa. 1967).
] 


		Furthermore, the Commission’s rules provide, “A person complaining of an act done or omitted to be done by a person subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, in violation, or claimed violation of a statute which the Commission has jurisdiction to administer, or of a regulation or order of the Commission, may file a formal complaint with the Commission.”  The Commission simply lacks jurisdiction over federal laws and regulations.  The Preliminary Objections must be granted and the alleged violations of federal law must by stricken from the Complaint.   

		Finally, I want to advise the parties that, as the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission, Complainant bears the burden of proof at the evidentiary hearing.[footnoteRef:8]  To satisfy this burden, Complainant must show substantial evidence that the Company is responsible or accountable for a violation of a statute over which the Commission has jurisdiction to administer, a Tariff provision, or a Commission regulation or Order.[footnoteRef:9]   	  [8:  	66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).
]  [9:  	Patterson v. Bell Tel. Co. of Pa., 72 Pa.P.U.C. 196 (1990); Feinstein v. Phila. Suburban Water Co., 50 Pa.P.U.C. 300 (1976).  
] 


 	THEREFORE,

	IT IS ORDERED:

1. That the Preliminary Objection filed by Duquesne Light Company is granted. 

2. That the claims of alleged violations of federal laws or statutes are stricken from the Complaint. 

3. That, at the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Moorefield shall bear the burden of proof to present substantial evidence that he is entitled to the relief sought in his Complaint.

4. That the evidentiary hearing shall convene as scheduled on October 11, 2023.


[bookmark: _Hlk10719696]Date:  August 31, 2023							/s/			
								Emily I. DeVoe
								Administrative Law Judge
1

4
C-2023-3041919 - MICHAEL MOOREFIELD v. DUQUESNE LIGHT COMPANY

MICHAEL MOOREFIELD 
305 SAN JAUN DR APT 8
PORT VUE PA  15133
412.853.4474
mrmfieldz021@gmail.com
Accepts eService

EMILY M FARAH COUNSEL
411 SEVENTH AVENUE
PITTSBURGH PA  15219
412.393.6431
efarah@duqlight.com
Accepts eService
(Counsel for Duquesne Light Company)



